FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/30/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100529-6

THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 372642

Lincoln Superior Court No. 14-3-01151-7

In re:

AN NGOC NGUYEN,

Petitioner,

VS.

THAO THI THU NGUYEN,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

JULIE C. WATTS/WSBA #43729
Attorney for Petitioner
The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC
505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210
Spokane, WA 99201
(509) 207-7615

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is AN NGOC NGUYEN.

II. DECISION BELOW

Petitioner seeks review of the *Opinion*, entered by Division III on October 19, 2021,¹ and the *Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration* entered on November 30, 2021.²

III. ISSUE FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the *Opinion* conflicts with numerous decisions of this Court and with decisions of the Court of Appeals.
- B. Whether the *Opinion's* refusal to provide any meaningful review was so complete that it resulted in a violation of An Ngoc's right to due process of law.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Both parties are both immigrants from Vietnam who speak English as a second language; they were married in 2001, and they divorced by agreement, entering their decree on July 25, 2014.³

² Appendix B.

¹ Appendix A.

³ Opinion, pgs. 1-2; CP 13-36, 52-76; Opening Brief, pg. 4.

Almost four years after entry of the decree, the wife, Thao, moved the superior court to vacate the parties' decree of dissolution.⁴ She claimed that the parties had previously had an undisclosed oral agreement regarding a piece of real estate that they had not included in the filings and that she now believed her husband had violated the oral agreement.⁵ She requested vacation pursuant to CR 60(b)(4), (5), and (11).⁶ Thao requested that the superior court "correct" the distribution of assets because she "would never agree to such a bad deal." (CP 92.)

The husband, An Ngoc, responded saying that they had had no such oral agreement, and that what had actually occurred is that Thao had demanded \$50,000 in immediate cash because the

⁴ Thao's first *Motion to Vacate* was filed on March 15, 2018 – three years and almost eight months after entry of the decree. (CP 37-38; *Opening Brief*, pg. 5.) Her second *Amended Motion to Partially Vacate Judgment* was filed on June 26, 2018, three years and eleven months after entry of the decree. (CP 87-88; *Opening Brief*, pg. 8.)

⁵ CP 87-101.

⁶ *Id.*

⁷ CP 92.

real estate market had been in low and she did not want to

maintain an ongoing property interest, but when the market

picked up four years later, Thao had contacted him and

demanded more money than they had previously agreed and

threatened to invent legal problems for him if he did not comply.8

An Ngoc argued that Thao's motion was untimely under

Washington law.9 First, because it caused prejudice to him (the

nonmoving party) due to delay, because he had paid the

mortgage and the property taxes for four years, and because he

had also managed the property (including taking responsibility

for maintenance, repairs, and leasing the property to tenants) for

that entire period. 10 The second reason was because Thao had

alleged no good reason for failing to take appropriate action

sooner (other than her claim of a secret oral agreement that

⁸ Opening Brief, pg. 6-12.

⁹ Per Luckett v. Boeing Company, 98 Wn.App. 307, 312, 989

P.2d 1144 (1999).

¹⁰ It is undisputed on appeal that An Ngoc paid the mortgage and property taxes for four years and that he solely managed the

property during that time.

inexplicably required her husband to maintain property in his

name that actually belonged to her and to manage that property

for her sole benefit over many years - an assertion that is

prevented by the statute of limitation and the statute of frauds.)

The superior court partially vacated the decree based solely

on the following language:

The real property located at 4100 Scoria Lane,

SE, Lacey, WA was not properly described in the Quit Claim Deed signed by the Petitioner on

March 29, 2014, and not referenced in the

Decree of Dissolution entered on July 25, 2014; therefore, the Decree is hereby partially vacated

as to such real property to be addressed at a trial to be subsequently determined.

The superior court made no findings of fact or conclusions of

law pursuant to any of the bases available under CR 60 for

vacating a judgment/order.

Almost a year later, on September 6, 2019, the superior court

conducted a trial where it awarded the property in full to Thao. 12

¹¹ CP 134-35.

¹² RP 116-26.

In doing so, the superior court took pains to confirm that (1) it

believed the parties had received bad advice, 13 (2) that both

parties were likely confused as to what their agreement was and

what their paperwork said, ¹⁴ (3) that it believed An Ngoc thought

he understood the agreement and the meaning of the paperwork

even though that belief may have been mistaken, 15 and (4)

ultimately, the problem was that the parties had had no meeting

of the minds when they entered the decree by agreement.¹⁶

An Ngoc appealed.

In his opening brief, he assigned error to the court's decision

to vacate the decree without making any findings or conclusions

related to CR 60, noting that CR 60 provided the bases for

vacating an order, and the trial court did not articulate any of

them, choosing instead to vacate based on the existence of

undistributed property which is not the appropriate legal

¹³ RP 117.

¹⁴ RP 119.

¹⁵ RP 123.

16 Id

standard. An Ngoc also went through the evidence that was

available at the time the trial court entered the order vacating the

decree, and he confirmed that none of it was sufficient to support

the vacation of the decree even if the trial court had made any

findings or conclusions, which it had not.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the matter and affirmed the

superior court's decision, finding that the order to vacate had

been "premised on fraud, misrepresentation, and misconduct." 17

In doing so, it made the following statements:

He argued that [Thao's] motion, filed almost three

years after the decree, was untimely. He also argued that her assertions that she did not intend to convey her interest in the [] property to him violated

the statute of frauds. 18

Here, [Thao] brought her motion to vacate soon after learning that her former husband would not

buy out her equity in the [] property as orally

promised.19

¹⁷ Opinion, pg. 11

¹⁸ Opinion, pg. 4; emphasis added.

¹⁹ Opinion, pg. 6; emphasis added.

Further, it is uncontested that [Thao] did not know the March 2014 deed purported to convey her interest in the [] property.²⁰

We conclude that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that [Thao's] motion was timely.²¹

In support of her motion to vacate, [Thao] asserted that [An Ngoc] tricked her into signing the March 2014 deed and later added both properties' legal descriptions. This assertion is supported by the language of the conveyance itself, which is limited to the Tacoma property. She further asserted that [An Ngoc] had agreed to buy out her equity in the Lacey property after he sold the Tacoma property. This assertion is supported by evidence that [An Ngoc] offered her \$50,000 after the sale of the Tacoma property. Finally, had [Thao] known that [An Ngoc] added the legal description of the Lacey property to the deed after she signed it, she probably would not have trusted him and signed the July 2014 agreed decree of dissolution. We conclude that [Thao] presented clear, cogent, and convincing

²⁰ Opinion, pg. 6. This is an inaccurate statement of fact that was later corrected in the Court's order denying reconsideration. (Appendix B.)

²¹ Opinion, pg. 7; emphasis added. The trial court made no such determination. This is an inaccurate statement of fact.

evidence that [An Ngoc] engaged in misrepresentation or misconduct to obtain her signature on the agreed decree of dissolution.²²

In his reply brief, [An Ngoc] faults [Thao] for often using the trial court's posttrial 2019 findings of fact to support its 2018 order partially vacating the decree of dissolution. We agree. The findings in 2019 cannot be used to support the 2018 order. Similarly, the 2019 findings cannot be used to impeach the 2018 order. For this reason, [An Ngoc] cannot use the trial court's 2019 finding that he (merely) failed to comply with his fiduciary duty to impeach the factual basis of its 2018 order, premised on fraud, misrepresentation, or misconduct.²³

Relatedly, [An Ngoc] asserts "the trial court granted the motion to vacate for untenable reasons when it did so without making any findings related to fraud, misrepresentation, or misconduct." Br. of Appellant at 20-21. He does not argue this point beyond that one sentence, and he fails to cite any authority to support his implied assertion that reversal is the appropriate remedy. We generally refuse to address issues not adequately briefed or argued. Ameriquest Mortg. Co. v. Attorney Gen., 148 Wn.App. 145, 166, 199 P.3d 468 (2009), aff'd on other grounds, 170 Wn.2d 418, 241 P.3d 1245

²² Opinion, pg. 8; emphasis added.

²³ Opinion, pg. 11; emphasis added.

(2010). We decline to address this related argument.²⁴

An Ngoc filed a motion for reconsideration which was denied. He now seeks the review of this Court.

V. ARGUMENT

(1) The Opinion pervasively conflicts with numerous decisions of this Court and with decisions of the Court of Appeals -- so much so that it raises a significant Constitutional question, which is whether the Opinion's refusal to provide any meaningful review was so complete that it resulted in a violation of An Ngoc's right to due process of law.

"The Fourteenth Amendment forbids the State to deprive any person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law."

Goss v. Lopez, 419 U.S. 565, 572, 95 S. Ct. 729, 42 L.Ed.2d 725 (1975). "Procedural due process imposes constraints on governmental decisions which deprive individuals of 'liberty' or 'property' interests within the meaning of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth or Fourteenth Amendment." Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 332, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976).

²⁴ Opinion, pg. 8; emphasis added.

In this case, Appellant's property interest in his real estate is

implicated by the Court's consideration of his appeal, which he

filed as a matter of right.

An essential principle of due process is the right to a

meaningful opportunity to be heard. <u>Downey v. Pierce County</u>,

165 Wn.App. 152, 164, 267 P.3d 445 (2011) (citing *Cleveland*

Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 542, 105 S.Ct. 1487,

84 L.Ed.2d 494 (1985)). A meaningful opportunity to be heard

means "at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." Id.

at 165, 267 P.3d 445 (quoting Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S.

319, 333-34, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976)).

Here, Division III declined to meaningfully consider

Appellant's arguments; it either ignored them or dismissed them

based on statements that summarized them inaccurately. The

Opinion ignores/dismisses Appellant's clear arguments,

repeatedly misstates the record in favor of Respondent, and

engages in fact-finding tasks that reviewing courts are

traditionally forbidden from undertaking on appeal and clearly

Petition for Review - Page 10 of 25

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

does so in favor of the Respondent, which it does seemingly with

the purpose of denying the appeal without addressing its merits.

It is understood that as a general principle, reviewing courts

are entitled to affirm underlying decisions on any proper basis.

and so, in some sense, it is appropriate for a reviewing court to

review a case with an eye toward "trying" to affirm the

underlying decision; however, this undertaking is to be

performed within the constraints of the rules that govern

reviewing courts and it must be based on the evidence in the

record. The role of a reviewing court is not adversarial to an

Appellant in its review, and the Opinion's analysis gives that

impression in this case.

In its eagerness to affirm the trial court, the Opinion simply

went too far which violated An Ngoc's due process rights and

requires reversal.

Petition for Review - Page 11 of 25

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

1. The Opinion repeatedly misstated the record.

The Court of Appeals found that Thao filed her motion to vacate "almost three years after the decree." This is inaccurate (and crucially so). In his appellate filings, An Ngoc provided the *exact* dates for entry of the decree and Thao's filing of her motions to vacate. The decree was entered on July 25, 2014. Thao's first *Motion to Vacate* was filed on March 15, 2018 — three years and almost eight months after entry of the decree. Her second *Amended Motion to Partially Vacate Judgment* was filed on June 26, 2018, three years and eleven months after entry of the decree. An Ngoc clearly stated that Thao's request had been made four years after entry of the decree approximately 28 times in his appellate filings.

²⁵ Opinion, pg. 4; emphasis added.

²⁶ CP 37-38; Opening Brief, pg. 5.

²⁷ CP 87-88; Opening Brief, pg. 8.

²⁸ Opening Brief, pg. 2, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 11, 17, 18, 23, 26, 28, 29, 34, and 35; Reply Brief, pgs. 9, 10, and 19.

The Opinion indicated that the trial court did not abuse its

discretion when it determined that Thao's motion was timely, but

this misstates the record. The trial court never determined that

her motion was timely. It made no findings or conclusions on

that issue; rather, it ignored it entirely.

The Opinion stated that superior court's order had a factual

basis premised on fraud, misrepresentation, or misconduct. This

is a misstatement of the record. The superior court never made

any findings or conclusions about fraud, misrepresentation, or

misconduct in its order on the motion to vacate. It ruled solely

on undistributed property.

The Opinion's numerous misstatements of the record confirm

that it did not provide An Ngoc with meaningful review.

2. The Opinion failed to address An Ngoc's assignments of

error or his arguments on appeal.

A court's failure to exercise discretion is an abuse of

discretion. Cf. Mainline Rock & Ballast, Inc. v. Barnes, Inc., 8

Wn.App. 2d 621, 626, 439 P.3d 676 (2019).

Petition for Review - Page 13 of 25

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

The vast majority of An Ngoc's argument (as reflected in his

assignments of error 1-4, issue #1) is based on his argument that

the sole authority governing the vacation of orders/judgments is

CR 60, and the trial court vacated the parties' decree without

making a single conclusion of law related to CR 60 or a single

finding of fact related to any of the bases outlined in CR 60.

Therefore, its vacation of the decree was done pursuant to the

wrong legal standard (i.e., the existence of undistributed property

NOT the bases outlined in CR 60), and it was therefore an abuse

of discretion.

The *Opinion* completely ignores that argument which is the

entire thrust of the appeal instead choosing to dismiss arguments

for reasons that do not comply with RAP 2.5(a). Division III's

refusal to exercise discretion was an abuse of discretion and

prevented An Ngoc from obtaining meaningful review.

Petition for Review - Page 14 of 25

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

3. The *Opinion* violates well-settled Washington law regarding appellate review by determining the credibility of the parties, weighing evidence, and substituting its judgement for the superior court's judgment.

Washington law also holds that the determination of credibility and the weighing of evidence is left to the trier of fact. ²⁹ Courts of appeal are not permitted to substitute their judgment for the superior court's judgment, weigh evidence, or evaluate credibility, and they defer to the trial court on issues of conflicting evidence, witness credibility, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. ³⁰ Courts of appeal are not the appropriate finders of fact for the same reason successor judges cannot find facts: only the judge who has heard evidence has the authority to find facts. ³¹

²⁹ <u>In re Welfare of A.W.,</u> 182 Wn.2d 689, 711, 344 P.3d 1186 (2015).

³⁰ <u>Wilson v. Wilson</u>, 165 Wn.App. 333, 340, 267 P.3d 485 (2011); <u>City of Univ. Place v. McGuire</u>, 144 Wn.2d 640, 652-53, 30 P.3d 453 (2001).

³¹ In re Marriage of Crosetto, 101 Wn.App. 89, 96, 1 P.3d 1180 (2000).

Here, the Opinion (1) determined the credibility of the parties

(making all findings in favor of Thao), weighed the evidence

(determined whether it was sufficient to meet the clear, cogent,

and convincing standard), and substituted its own findings of fact

made for the first time on appeal in the complete absence of any

findings entered by the superior court.

In doing so, the Opinion not only violated well-settled

principles of appellate procedure, but it attributed findings to the

trial court that the trial court not only never made but that it

expressly contradicted in later findings; specifically, the trial

court found that the parties had never had a meeting of the minds

sufficient to form an agreement (thereby undermining the

Opinion's finding that an "oral agreement" existed) and that no

one had acted fraudulently or engaged in misrepresentation or

misconduct (thereby undermining the Opinion's finding that

there was clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that An Ngoc

had engaged in fraud, misrepresentation, or misconduct).

Petition for Review - Page 16 of 25

The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201

The *Opinion* conflicts with well-settled Washington law governing appellate review as set forth in decisions by this Court and the Court of Appeals, as evidenced in each of the cited decisions in this section.

4. The *Opinion* repeatedly erred when it made findings of fact and conclusions of law for the first time on appeal.

a. Division III erred when it found an oral promise existed between the parties.

Questions of law are reviewed de novo.³²

Here, [Thao] brought her motion to vacate soon after learning that her former husband would not buy out her equity in the Lacy property as orally promised.³³

The Superior Court never made a finding of oral promise, nor did it ever even address Thao's claim of oral promise or An Ngoc's defenses of statute of limitation and statute of frauds.³⁴ The *Opinion* explicitly acknowledged An Ngoc's objections and then ignored them, finding that an oral promise had been made.

³² Jametsky v. Olsen, 179 Wn.2d 756, 761, 317 P.3d 1003 (2014).

³³ Opinion, pg. 6; emphasis added.

³⁴ CP 79-86.

RCW 4.16.080(2) imposes a three-year statute of limitations on actions for recovery of real property, and a two-year statute of limitations on any action not specifically provided for by RCW 4.16. RCW 64.04 prevents an oral agreement for the conveyance of real property.

By finding an oral promise existed in violation of the statute of limitations on actions for recovery of real property and oral contracts and in violation of the statute of frauds prevents oral agreements for conveyances of real property, the *Opinion* erred as a matter of law.

b. Division III erred when it found that there was clear, cogent, and convincing evidence to find that An Ngoc had engaged in misrepresentation or misconduct.

Decisions on motions to vacate are reviewed for abuse of discretion.³⁵ Discretion is abused if it exercised on untenable grounds for untenable reasons.³⁶ A discretionary decision is

³⁵ <u>Jones v. City of Seattle</u>, 179 Wn.2d 322, 360, 314 P.3d 380 (2013).

³⁶ Morin v. Burris, 160 Wn.2d 745, 753, 161 P.3d 956 (2007).

based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons if the court "relies on unsupported facts or applies the wrong legal standard."³⁷ A court that misunderstands or misapplies the law bases its decision on untenable grounds.³⁸

Misrepresentation requires a false statement of an existing fact. ³⁹ If a party demonstrates that the other party engaged in misrepresentation, a trial court may grant relief under CR 60(b)(4) only if the moving party presents clear and convincing evidence of at least two additional elements: first, the moving party must have relied on or been misled by the misrepresentation, and second, there must be some connection between the misrepresentation and obtaining the judgment. People's State Bank v. Hickey, 55 Wn.App. 367, 371, 777 P.2d 1056 (1989).

³⁷ Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677, 684, 132 P.3d 115 (2006).

³⁸ *Little v. King*, 160 Wn.2d 696, 703, 161 P.3d 345 (2007).

³⁹ Landsiar Inway, Inc. v. Samrow, 181 Wn.App. 109, 124, 325 P.3d 327 (2014).

The Opinion identified three pieces of evidence that it

believed met the "clear, cogent, and convincing" standard to

show misrepresentation or misconduct.

The first is the testimony proffered by Thao claiming that An

Ngoc had "tricked her into signing the March 2014 deed and later

added both properties' legal descriptions," which the Opinion

evaluated as being "supported by the language of the conveyance

itself, which is limited to the Tacoma property." This

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