FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/22/2022 11:56 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

## NO. 100529-6

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals, Div. III -- No. 372642 Lincoln County Sup. Ct. No. 14-3-01151-7

AN NGOC NGUYEN,

Petitioner,

v.

# THAO THI THU NGUYEN,

Respondent

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

THOMAS E. SEGUINE, WSBA # 17507 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT 1023 South Third Street Mount Vernon, WA 98273

Ph: (360) 755-1000

# **

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

## V. ARGUMENT

# 1. There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4

The petition ultimately seeks review only under under RAP 13.4(b)(3), a supposed "significant Constitutional question." *Pet.*, 9-11, 24-25. This claim is supported by four subsidiary arguments which make passing references to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) -- there has been a fundamental denial of due process because Division Three deprived Petitioner of "meaningful review." *Pet.* 9-11, 24-25. There was no meaningful review because of "pervasive conflicts with numerous decisions of this [Supreme] Court and with decisions of the Court of Appeals" including "well-settled Washington law regarding appellate review." *Id.* at 9, 15. <sup>2</sup>

The gist of the Petition, therefore, is that Division Three cheated Petitioner, that its decision was deficient and did not appreciably and fairly and objectively consider the merits of his arguments. Thus, the Division Three appellate process was fundamentally unfair. The central argument for acceptance of review is therefore whether this Court would like to review the novel question of whether a depraved Division Three appellate process,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This analysis is confirmed by studying the numbering of the arguments in the brief. The first is a parenthetical "(1)"; the second and remaining arguments are digitized using period marks for punctuation (e.g. "1.," "2."), immediately followed by the conclusion, which repeats the primary argument under the parenthetical (1)."

allegedly against Petitioner, can in this case rise to the level of a deprivation of due process of law.

Respondent asserts that the Petition should be denied on its face here, without regard to any secondary arguments. There is no legal premise for the central claim of some sort of appellate deprivation of due process, or abuse of discretion. Petitioner is making this up. It is an absurd proposition, particularly in the context of this case, for several reasons.

First, there is no express authority introduced in the petition supporting this principle, from this state or from any other jurisdiction. Certainly general principles of due process of law (e.g. *Mathews v. Eldridge*) are cited. But no case or other authority is presented in which an appellate court was found to be engaged in the violations of due process of law when issuing an opinion in due course of a conventional and regular appeal. That is precisely what happened here.

Second, sifting through the various arguments that follow, it is clear that the centerpiece of the claimed unconstitutionality is *not* that Division Three did not provide appropriate, conventional, review of the appeal; it is that Division Three sided against Petitioner, and affirmed the trial court in that regard. Thus it may here be argued that this petition is nothing more than a taste of sour grapes by Petitioner. Petitioner is upset at losing after he appealed. There is no allegation, for example, that Division Three did not

allow him to appeal, nor restrict his ability to present his appeal, nor indication that somewhere along the line there was some impropriety in evaluating his appeal. The closest that he comes to that is the "partition/undistributed property" argument. But that issue was addressed, in context, by Division Three. And in fact, the opinion is nothing unusual or extraordinary in the world of appeals. Petitioner alleged there was insufficient evidence in the record to sustain the trial court's decision to reopen the divorce proceeding, which argument is repeated in the Petition here. Division Three reviewed the record and disagreed with that argument. Along the way it expressly and directly addressed the "partition/undistributed property" argument, as discussed above. That logic happens to correspond with what was presented by Respondent in its briefing to Division Three.

As much as Petitioner does not like it,<sup>3</sup> the fact that Petitioner lost in Division Three does not translate to some abstract denial of due process, particularly one which requires review by this Court. He was afforded due process through the Division Three appellate process. There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Following that broad assertion, there is a litany of secondary items that Petitioner asserts Division Three resolved incorrectly which creates the

<sup>3</sup> And is being recalcitrant about it, ultimately, as discussed below.

5

"significant question" of constitutional law. These might be thought of as the building blocks of that general claim for review here. Though unnecessary because of the above analysis, to the extent they are identified more specifically in the Petition, some further response is provided here.

# i. Alleged misstatements of the record do not constitute violations of due process of law.

Petitioner alleges that certain misstatements of the record by Division Three constitute a violation of due process to him, in whole or in part; he ultimately states in this section, as in others, "[t]he *Opinion's* numerous misstatements of the record confirm that it [Division Three] did not provide An Ngoc with meaningful review."

His first example is that Division Three may have incorrectly identified the time gap between the decree and the proceedings as three rather than four years. *Pet.* 12. But Petitioner never explains how or why this distinction makes any difference to anything, especially to the issue of whether this court should accept review. Indeed under operative provisions of CR 60, a motion only needed to be brought within a reasonable period of time. *Resp. Br.*, 20-24; *Opinion*, 6.

Next the Petition asserts that the Opinion "misstates the record" when it determined that the motion was timely when "the trial court never

determined that her motion was timely." This is form over substance. The trial court granted the CR 60 motion; it therefore necessarily ruled that the motion was timely. Moreover, Division Three specified *why* there was no trial court abuse of discretion on this point, as Respondent brought the motion shortly after learning of the illicit transfer by Petitioner. Furthermore, as pointed out in the Respondent's briefing, an absolute maxim of appellate review is that in the absence of findings, an appellate court may look at a trial court's opinion to determine the basis for the trial court's resolution of an issue. *Marriage of Booth*, 114 Wn.2d 772 (1990); RAP 2.5.

The same response applies to Petitioner's third argument in this section of briefing, that Division Three "misstated the record" when it ruled there was a factual basis for fraud, misrepresentation or misconduct. Again, Petitioner alleges there were no findings or conclusions by the trial court on this point, and that it "ruled solely on undistributed property." Even if this were so, Division Three was entitled to look at the entire record to understand the trial court actions. Also, as pointed out otherwise in this briefing and that made to Division Three, the partition argument would allow Petitioner to capitalize on his illicit/dubious transfer of the Lacey property. For example, in partition, as co-tenants, each would presumably be entitled to an even split of the property, without regard to any other martial/dissolution assets. If the property had been *included* in the original dissolution proceedings, it would

have been incorporated with all the marital assets in fashioning a fair split. This is what the trial court did, and the procedure approved by Division Three.

Also, as pointed out in Division Three, Petitioner's argument in the trial court was that the transfer of the Lacey property was valid and legally enforceable. In such case, there was to be <u>no</u> partition. To come into Division Three and advance such a proposition was to compound the illicit and illegal transfer, albeit in the dissolution proceedings. Put another way, it was a marital asset at the time of the dissolution which should have been part of the dissolution when it was originally considered by the court; the reason it was not then included was because of 1) the supposed side agreement between the parties combined with 2) the illicit transfer by Petitioner.

There are other variations of these responses which can be presented. The core issue, however, as presented by the Petition, is that these items of "misstatements of the record" prevented "meaningful review, that is, a deprivation of due process against Petitioner. This argument does not support review by this Court.

ii. The alleged failure to directly address assignments of error or related arguments does not amount to a violation of due process; in either case the central argument of the appeal was addressed.

The next section of briefing again asserts a denial of due process and/or meaningful review by Division Three in that it was required to more precisely address Petitioner's "wrong legal standard" argument. The wrong legal standard was the "existence of undistributed property <u>NOT</u> the bases outlined in CR 60". The section of argument for review should be rejected for several reasons.

First, again, Petitioner does not articulate how this alleged error amounts to a justification for review under RAP 13.4 other than the general references to some oblique fundamental fairness.

Second, it refuses to acknowledge that Division Three did review the matter to determine whether the trial court had engaged in an abuse of discretion under traditional legal principles, specifically those principles of CR 60 which applied, based on the specific arguments for reversal brought by Petitioner as Appellant, as elegantly recounted by the Petition. It seems a bit odd that Petitioner would seek review under CR 60, lose under CR 60, and then complain that Division Three did not rule for him under CR 60.

Third, the argument continues to conflate the standards of undistributed property with those of CR 60, and argues without basis that the two could never conceivably overlap, which they happen to here. In other words, though there perhaps was technically "undistributed property" at issue

because of the CR 60 ruling, the CR 60 ruling in-effect creating that condition is not invalid. The two simply are not mutually exclusive.

Fourth, Division Three refused to more deeply review the argument because it had not been sufficiently preserved at the trial court level. Indeed, at the trial court Petitioner asserted – as he continues to here – that there was no agreement such as that to which his ex-wife testified. He testified that his wife *agreed* that he would have both properties. Therefore, at trial Petitioner largely refused to acknowledge the possibility of partition; he asserted that his full ownership of the Lacey property was a done deal. Under the circumstances, the reference to undistributed property and partition is illogical. The trial court abjectly rejected his side of the story.

Fifth, and for much the same reason, the trial court treated the Lacey lot as property that was illicitly transferred and should have been treated as part of the dissolution proceedings when the dissolution occurred. That is, but for the illicit transfer by Petitioner, it would have been so treated. The critical question is not whether it was undistributed property, but how it came to be so.

Beyond simply alleging a grandiose denial of "meaningful review," this segment of briefing makes no reference back to RAP 13.4. Especially given the observations set forth above, there is no basis for Supreme Court review based on these factors.

# iii. Division Three did not violate conventional appellate principles resulting in due process violations.

The next variation of the due process argument involves subarguments 3 and 4 in the briefing. Here Petitioner asserts Division Three wrongly evaluated credibility, weighed evidence, and substituted its judgment for that of the superior court. *Pet.*, 16. This argument suffers from many of the same defects as those explained above.

First, it does not tie the matter into RAP 13.4, other than in the general sense of general unfairness and due process deprivation, as set forth above.

Second, there were no findings of fact or decisions of credibility made by Division Three. It made rulings of law, specifically whether the trial court should or should not be affirmed as a matter of law. The trial court determined that there was undistributed property *because* Petitioner's dubious deed was invalidated; a court order to that effect was issued. It was invalidated because the trial court believed there was ample evidence to show that the parties did not have a meeting of the minds, at minimum, because Respondent never intended to convey her interest in the Lacey property. There was no meeting of the minds because Petitioner, on his own, added pages to the document to falsely incorporate the Lacey property in the deed presented for the Tacoma property. The trial court necessarily made some assessment of the competing testimony on this point and believed Respondent more creditable, that is, that

the pages containing the legal description for the Lacey property were added after Respondent signed the document. Petitioner vehemently denied the same. Division Three found there was sufficient evidence in the record to support the trial court decision in this regard, such that there was no abuse of discretion. This is review on a matter of law; it is not a finding as alleged by Petitioner. On this basis, there is no reason for Supreme Court review.

# iv. The reference to an oral agreement was secondary and passing; it was not a finding of fact, though supported by the record.

The next arrow in the Petition's quiver is the notion that due process was not provided by Division Three because it determined – as a finding of fact – that there was an oral promise by Petitioner. The Petition goes on to say that any recognition of such a promise amounted to an error as a matter of law. *Pet.*, 17-18. The error of law occurred because it is said to be in violation the statute of limitations and the statute of frauds. This argument should be rejected for several reasons.

The first is that this description of the opinion by Division Three is inaccurate, in its final form. In particular, as set forth above, there was a motion for reconsideration filed by Petitioner in Division Three. That motion presented the same argument presented here on this precise point. The ruling

on reconsideration, while summary, specifically addressed this complaint. It amended the opinion and the sentence at issue, as follows:

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the third full sentence in the third paragraph on page 6 that begins "Further, it is uncontested" shall be deleted and the following shall be inserted in its place:

The trial court considered Ms. Nguyen's declaration, which stated that she did not know the March 2014 deed purported to convey her interest in the Lacey property.

This revision makes clear that Division One was acting as an appellate court, examining the record to determine whether evidence existed before the trial court to support its ruling so that there would be no abuse of discretion.

Second, as with all the other arguments, there is no argument as to precisely how this part of the case justifies some form of review under RAP 13.4. In fact, especially with the ruling on the motion for reconsideration, Respondent has again received review of his case. There is no issue of some anomalous deprivation of due process by Division Three which would support review by this Court.

# v. Division Three properly reviewed the CR 60 issues of misrepresentation and misconduct

The Petition maintains that review should be accepted because Division Three erred as a matter of law concerning its review of the CR 60 issues related to misrepresentation or misconduct. In particular, as with the

Division Three appeal, Petitioner basically asserts the record in the trial court did not contain sufficient evidence for vacation of the judgment under CR 60. The Petition maintains 1) that the mere fact that a document contains errors is not sufficient evidence to prove either misrepresentation or misconduct, as such evidence can have "many potential interpretations;" 2) that any claims of oral agreements must survive the statute of frauds/limitations; and 3) that Division Three was off base when it surmised that Respondent would not have signed off on the divorce decree had she known. The Petition concludes that Division Three "abused its discretion" in ruling against Petitioner. None of these items justifies Supreme Court review, for several reasons.

First, no review is justified under any constitutional standard, the main claim of the petition. The primary grievance here is that Petitioner disagrees with Division One's decision concluding there was sufficient evidence to justify reopening the matter under CR 60.

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